1961

George L. Tillman v. State of Utah : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Earlier that evening Curley and Carl Holland had illegally entered the Utah Builders Supply Company, 503 West 4th South, Salt Lake City, Utah. (R.94-5.) They found a television set and various items of business equipment.

Sponsored by the U.J. Quinney Law Library. Funding for digitization provided by the Institute of Museum and Library Services Library Services and Technology Act, administered by the Utah State Library.
Machine-generated OCR may contain errors.

Mr. Curley wanted appellant to drive his truck from the Pacific Hotel to the Utah Builders Supply Company and back. (R.93) Appellant accepted the offer. While Curley and Holland reentered the Utah Builders Supply Company appellant remained in his truck. He was in his truck during the entire transaction. (R.93)

Police Officer Arthur Kent located the truck, appellant, Curley and Holland in front of the Pacific Hotel shortly after midnight. (R.76-77) Officer Kent arrested Vernon Curley and requested the other men to remain in the vicinity for further questioning, (R.78) and called Officer Gary L. Parke of the Detective Bureau to the scene. (R.78)

Officer Parke saw a television set and several business machines in the bed portion of appellant's truck. (R.85)

Vernon Curley and appellant were taken to the Salt Lake Police Station (R.87) and later Carl Holland was taken into custody.

(R.87) All three were booked for burglary.

(R.

On April 5, 1961 the three men were charged in a complaint signed by Richard Hoagland with burglary in the second degree and grand larceny. (R.6) The three men were bound over to the District Court May 17, 1961 for trial. (R.2)

An information containing one count for second degree burglary and one count for grand larceny was filed May 26, 1961. (R.8-9)

On June 2, 1961 appellant, Curley and Holland were tried together and the jury returned a verdict of guilty against each party for second degree burglary and grand larceny. (R. 19-20)

Sentence was imposed on appellant June 19, 1961. He was first sentenced for the crime of burglary in the second degree. (R.39) There was, however, a phrase - "said sentence to run concurrently with sentence for grand larceny", but there was no specific sentence for grand larceny. (R.39)

Appellant filed a notice of appeal in his own behalf August 18, 1961. (R.42-49)

On September 14, 1961 an amended commitment and sentence issued specifically sentencing appellant for grand larceny and second degree bur

POINT

The trial court exceeded its jurisdiction by imposing two sentences upon a verdict of guilty of grand larceny and second degree burglary, when only one single act or transaction was established by the evidence, and the imposition of dual sentences, even though made to run concurrently, may mislead the adult authority into believing a harsher treatment should be imposed.

ARGUMENT

The evidence in this case discloses that appellant George L. Tillman was offered \$2.00 to haul a television set and certain business equipment in his truck from the Utah Builders Supply Company to the Pacific Hotel. The evidence further discloses that Mr. Tillman remained in his truck the entire time. For this act or transaction Mr. Tillman was sentenced to the Utah State Penitentiary for both grand larceny and second degree burglary.

Utah Code Annotated 1953, § 76-1-23, prohibits such dual punishment for a single act.

The section provides:

An act or omission which is made punishable in different ways by different provisions of this Code may be punished under any one of such provisions, but in no case can it be punished under more than one. * * *

This provision has been interpreted by the Utah Supreme Court. The most recent case from my research is State vs. Huntsman, 115 Utah 283, 203 P.2d 448 (1949). Justice Wade stated that under this section a defendant could be prosecuted in a case where an unmarried man by force had sexual intercourse with his married daughter, who was between the ages of 13 and 18 years, for adultery, incest, fornication, rape and carnal knowledge, "but could only be convicted or acquitted for one offense for the same act".

California Penal Code, § 654, is identical to our Utah Code, § 76-1-23. The most recent California Supreme Court interpretation of their statute is contained in Neal vs. State, 357 P.2d 839 (1961) in an opinion written by Justice Trayner. The case involved a conviction for arson and attempted murder for the act of throwing gasoline into the bedroom of a Mr. and Mrs. Raymond and igniting it. The court held that the conviction for both arson and attempted murder violated Penal Code § 654, and the arson

conviction, being in excess of the trial court's jurisdiction, was set aside.

Dual punishment for a single act or transaction has been considered by federal courts. In *Halligan vs. Wayne*, 179 F. 112 (1910) the question was whether one accused of burglary and larceny may be convicted and punished for both offenses. The court stated that reason and authority sustains the view that one may not be punished for both grand larceny and burglary.

In *Munson vs. McClaughry*, 198 F. 72 (1912) the court held that the trial court exceeded its jurisdiction in sentencing Charles Munson for larceny after imposing a burglary sentence. The court stated:

A criminal intent to commit larceny of property of the government is an indispensable element of each of the offenses of which the petitioner was convicted, and there can be no doubt that where one attempts to break into or breaks into a post office building with intent to commit larceny therein, and at the same time commits the larceny, his criminal intent is one, and it inspires his entire transaction, which is itself in reality but a single continuing criminal act. It seems to be unauthorized, inhumane, and unreasonable to divide such a single intent and such a criminal act into two or more separate

offenses, and to inflict separate punishments upon the various steps in the act or transaction, such as one for breaking, or for the attempt to break with the criminal intent, and another for a larceny with the same intent, or such as one for the attempt to break, a second for the breaking, a third for the entering, a fourth for the taking of stamps, a fifth for the taking of other property, a sixth for the conversion of the property, and a seventh for carrying it away, all with the same single criminal intent. And there is evidently no limit to the number of offenses into which a single criminal intent may be divided, if this rule of division and punishment is once firmly established.

In *Stevens vs. McLaughry*, 207 F. 13, (1913) the court stated the rule as follows:

The most familiar illustration of the rule is that burglary with intent to commit larceny and larceny committed at the same time and as one continued act do not subject the perpetrator to two punishments, one for the burglary and another for the larceny, because the same intent is indispensable to each and they are each parts of a continuing criminal act.

In *O'Brien vs. McLaughry*, 209 F. 816 (1913)

James O'Brien was sentenced for larceny and burglary. The court held that the trial court had exceeded its jurisdiction and approved the Rule of Law that when larceny and burglary are inspired by a single intent there may be but a single punishment.

This rule of law suffered a setback in *Morgan vs. DeVine*, 237 U.S. 632 (1915). The court stated that it is within the competency of Congress to say what shall be offenses against the law. Congress had enacted two penal provisions, one for breaking and entering a Post Office and one for actually taking property therefrom. The court held that Congress intended to create two separate offenses, both of which were punishable.

The problem thus becomes one of legislative intent. The Utah Legislature has clearly expressed its intent in Utah Code Annotated 1953, § 76-1-23. An act constituting larceny and burglary may be punished under either the larceny or burglary provision, but in no case can it be punished under both.

The United States Supreme Court has further considered this dual punishment problem in *Bell vs. United States of America*, 349 U.S. 81 (1955). The defendant was charged with violating the Mann Act. The violations were laid in two counts, each of which referred

and fifteen years for "entering". The United States Supreme Court reversed, holding that under the statute the crime of entering a bank with intent to commit robbery was merged with the crime of robbery when the latter was consummated.

In *Ladner vs. United States of America*, 358 U.S. 169 (1958) the defendant had been convicted of assaulting two federal officers with a deadly weapon in violation of former provision 18 U.S.C. § 254. The defendant argued that in having fired a single discharge from a shotgun wounding two officers he was guilty of but one "assault" and subject to only one punishment. The District Court and the Court of Appeals for the Fifth Circuit held that the wounding of two federal officers from the single discharge of a shotgun constituted a separate offense against each officer under the statute. The judgment was reversed by the United States Supreme Court. The court held that the single discharge of a shotgun wounding two federal officers constitutes only a single

violation of the statute, because Congress had not made it clear that a multiple offense was intended.

In *Heflin vs. United States of America*, 358 U.S. 415 (1959) the Federal Bank Robbery Act was again construed. The defendant had been convicted and sentenced for "robbing" a bank and "receiving, possessing, concealing, storing and disposing of the stolen money". The United States Supreme Court reversed the multiple conviction on the ground that the provision for "receiving, possessing, disposing," etc. of stolen money was not designed to increase the punishment for one who robs a bank, but only to provide punishment for those who receive the loot from the robber.

Summarizing the above argument, Utah Code Annotated 1953, § 76-1-23 controls this matter. It provides one sentence for multiple offenses committed by one act or transaction. This Court has so interpreted this statute in *State vs. Huntsman*, 115 Utah 283, 204 P.2d 448 (1949).

~~and has~~ construed it in State vs. Neal, 357 P.2d 839 (1961) to mean one sentence for one transaction or act, though multiple offenses are committed. The United States Supreme Court has shown great lenity in construing federal legislation to mean one sentence for multiple offenses.

CONCLUSION

It is respectfully submitted that the trial court exceeded its jurisdiction in imposing a sentence of grand larceny upon appellant after having sentenced him for burglary in the second degree for the same act or transaction; therefore appellant respectfully prays that this court declare the second sentence void.