1961

# George L. Tillman v. State of Utah : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

### STATEMENT OF CASE

The appellant, George L. Tillman, also known as Spike Jones, was convicted of grand larceny (78-36-1 through 4, Utah Code Annotated 1953) and second degree burglary (76-9-3, Utah Code Annotated 1953) in Third Judicial District Court and sentenced on each crime with the sentences directed, to run concurrently. Appellant contends that he may not be sentenced on both charges.

## DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT

The lower court, upon conviction of defendant of grand larceny and second degree burglary, sentenced defendant upon each crime, sentences to run concurrently. No further action was taken subsequent to this action except the instant appeal.

## RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

The appellant seeks to have so much of the sentence as applies to the crime of grand larceny vacated. The respondent, State of Utah, contends the court should affirm, and deny the relief sought.

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

The respondent adopts the facts as set out in the appellant's brief as being essentially correct. The only issue raised on appeal is whether the crime of grand larceny and second degree burglary may be separately punished by individual sentences where the two crimes arise out of the same total transaction.

## STATEMENT OF POINT

### POINT I.

THE APPELLANT WAS PROPERLY SENTENCED ON BOTH THE GRAND LARCENY AND SECOND DEGREE BURGLARY COUNTS.

## ARGUMENT

### POINT I.

THE APPELLANT WAS PROPERLY SENTENCED ON BOTH THE GRAND LARCENY AND SECOND DEGREE BURGLARY COUNTS.

The appellant contends that the trial court erred in sentencing him for both larceny and burglary where the burglary and larceny arose from the same total transaction.

The information under which the appellant was tried lists two counts: Count One being for the crime of burglary, second degree, and Count Two for grand larceny, both crimes being charged as having occurred at the same time and place (R. 8). The facts show that the burglary preceded the larceny in that appellant, being an accomplice to the actual burglary and larceny, stood by in a truck, while his co-principals first entered the building and then removed property therefrom.

At the outset, it is noted that 77-21-31, Utah Code Annotated 1953, provides:

“The information or indictment must charge but one offense, but the same offense may be set forth in different forms under different counts; and when the offense may be committed by the use of different means, the means may be alleged in the alternative in the same count; provided, \* \* \* that an information or indictment for burglary may contain a count for housebreaking and one for larceny, and an information or indictment for housebreaking may contain a count for larceny; \* \* \*”

Section 77-21-32, Utah Code Annotated 1953, is to be read with the above cited provision and states:

“The defendant or defendants, or any of them, may be convicted of any offense charged in any of the counts joined as prescribed in the next preceding section; provided, that no person shall be convicted of more than one crime upon the same facts constituting such crime.”

It appears, therefore, that if a person is tried upon joint counts, he may not be convicted of more than one crime if the same facts constitute the different crimes.

The appellant, in contending the court should not affirm the sentence on the larceny count, relies upon 76-1-23, Utah Code Annotated 1953. The key phrase of this statute which prohibits multiple punishments for the same act, is the wording which states: “An *act* or *omission* which is punishable in different ways \* \* \*.” Sections 77-21-32, and 76-1-23, Utah Code Annotated 1953, should be construed in conjunction with each other, since it would be an absurdity to allow a conviction but provide that an accused could not be sentenced upon the conviction. Since both provisions are related to the same general subject matter, they should be construed consistently or in *pari materia*. Sutherland, Statutory Construction, 3rd Ed., Sec. 5202.

It is submitted that the construction of the above statutes is consistent with the sentencing of an accused on both the count of larceny and burglary arising from the same total transaction. Generally, separate sentences may be imposed on each count of an indictment where

different offenses are charged. Thus, as is noted in 24 C. J. S., Criminal Law, Sec. 1567, p. 37:

“As a general rule, where accused enters a plea of guilty or is convicted by a general verdict or otherwise on several counts of an indictment charging separate and distinct offenses although of the same character, he may be subjected to separate punishments \* \* \*.”

To the same effect is that statement in 15 Am. Jur., Criminal Law, Sec. 451, where it is said:

“Unless otherwise provided by a statute, a defendant who pleads guilty or is convicted under an indictment charging two distinct offenses may be punished for both.”

See also 9 Am. Jur., Burglary, Sec. 83, 31 L. R. A. (N. S.) 727.

In the instant case, there is no question but that larceny and burglary are distinct and separate offenses. The elements of one are not the same as the elements of the other. The same facts nor the same acts or omissions do not give rise to both crimes. Larceny takes over where burglary leaves off. Section 76-1-23, U. C. A. 1953, requires that the same act or omission be punishable in the same way; but the acts constituting burglary will not justify a conviction for larceny, and vice versa.

The appellant has cited several early federal cases to the effect that a sentence cannot be imposed for both burglary and larceny where they arise from the same totality of circumstance. It is noted that these cases pre-

ceded the decision in *Morgan v. Devine*, 237 U. S. 632 (1915), where the United States Supreme Court said:

“But the test is not whether the criminal intent is one and the same and inspiring the whole transaction, *but whether separate acts have been committed* with the requisite criminal intent and are such as made punishable by act of Congress.”  
(Emphasis added)

The court there upheld the sentencing of the accused for both the breaking and entering of a post office and larceny therefrom.

The subsequent federal cases cited by appellant are not concerned with the specific issue now before the court, nor as here where we have two separate statutes. The cases cited by the appellant for the most part involve violations of a single statute, making several things criminal. Even so, the rule set down in *Blockburger v. United States*, 284 U. S. 296 (1932), is still applicable to cases like that of the instant situation.<sup>1</sup> In the *Blockburger* case, the court set the test for multiplicity of sentence as follows:

“The applicable rule is that where the same act or transaction constitutes a violation of two distinct statutory provisions, the test to be applied to determine whether there are two offenses or only one, is whether each provision requires proof of an additional fact which the other does not.”

There is, therefore, no inconsistency between the federal position and the position advocated by the State

---

<sup>1</sup>See *Gore v. United States*, 357 U. S. 386 (1958) and *Harris v. United States*, 359 U. S. 19 (1959), where the United States Supreme Court adhered to the *Blockburger* rule.

and applied by the trial court, since burglary and larceny require the proof of separate elements.

It is submitted that the trial court acted properly and in direct accord with the previous decisions of this Court. In *Wilkinson v. Harris*, 109 U. 76, 163 P. 2d 1023 (1945), the accused sought release on habeas corpus because he had been charged in one information with both burglary and larceny, and sentenced on both counts. The court denied the writ, holding that since he had not completed the sentence on either count, his application was premature. A little over a year later, the same contention as is raised in the instant case and was sought to be raised in the *Wilkinson* case was before the Utah Supreme Court. In *Rogerson v. Harris*, 111 Utah 330, 178 P. 2d 397 (1947), a writ of habeas corpus was sought by petitioner on the grounds that he was improperly convicted of larceny and third degree burglary, and sentenced to consecutive sentences on both counts; and that he had served his sentence for burglary, he should be freed. The court rejected the contention. It noted that the statute, that is now 77-21-31, U. C. A. 1953, allows joinder of the offenses in the information and that what is now 77-21-32, U. C. A. 1953, prohibits conviction if the crimes are based upon the same facts. The court stated:

“\* \* \* The clear meaning of Section 105-21-32 [77-21-32, U. C. A. 1953] is that a defendant may be found guilty of more than one offense charged in the same information unless the same facts constitute both or all the crimes of which he is charged.

“Do the same facts in this case constitute the crimes of burglary in the third degree and grand larceny?

“Burglary in the third degree is defined as: ‘Every person who, in the daytime, enters any dwelling house \* \* \* or other building, \* \* \* with intent to steal or to commit any felony whatever therein, is guilty of burglary in the third degree.’ Section 103-9-5, U. C. A. 1943.

“Larceny is defined as: ‘Larceny is the felonious stealing, taking, carrying, leading or driving away the personal property of another.’ Section 103-36-1, U. C. A. 1943.

“The crime of burglary was perpetrated by the plaintiff’s entering the garage with intent to steal. Had he been interrupted and prevented from taking the car, or, after entering, had he changed his mind and decided not to take the automobile he still would have committed the crime of burglary.

“Larceny requires no ‘entering.’ The crime is accomplished merely by taking the personal property of another with intent to steal.

“In this case burglary and larceny arose out of the same total transaction but the proof of the burglary stopped when the proof of the larceny started. Entirely different facts constitute the different crimes of which the plaintiff was found guilty. The same facts therefore do not constitute the two crimes joined but different facts constitute different crimes. Conviction of the two crimes were therefore not prohibited by Section 105-21-32, U. C. A. 1943.” (178 P. 2d at 399.)

The court also noted that the sentences on the crimes, which were consecutive and for both larceny and burglary, were proper. The court said:

“The plaintiff was legally charged with burglary and grand larceny. The convictions *and sentences* for the two crimes were regular. He is being detained in the state prison by virtue of those *sentences*.” (Emphasis added)

Although the court did not refer to 76-1-23, U. C. A. 1953, it did decide that the crimes of burglary and larceny are not patterned on the same facts and, hence, not the same act or omission, and that separate sentences for each are proper. Thus, the Harris case, it is submitted, is dispositive of the instant appeal.

The position of the Utah court appears in accord with the greater majority of cases from other jurisdictions as well. In *Williams v. State*, 109 A. 2d 89 (Md. 1954), the Maryland Court of Appeals said:

“In *Eyer v. Warden*, 197 Md. 690, 80 A. 2d 19, Judge Delaplaine said for the Court: ‘Consecutive sentences, if certain and definite, are valid, where the accused is convicted of separate and distinct crimes charged in different indictments *or in different counts of the same indictment*.’ (Emphasis supplied) We have held that a count of breaking and entering and a count of larceny may be joined in the same indictment. *Debinski v. State*, 194 Md. 355, 71 A. 2d 460; *Bowser v. State*, *supra*. The finding of the jury as to guilt on both the first and second counts was a finding that separate crimes had been committed. This trial court could, therefore, in its discretion impose separate punishments, within statutory limits.”

Other decisions from the same state appear to support the rule. *Johnson v. State*, 164 A. 2d 917 (Md. 1961); *Young v. State*, 151 A. 2d 140 (Md. 1959).

In *State v. Hutton*, 87 Ariz. 176, 349 P. 2d 187 (1960), the Arizona Supreme Court rejected the same argument as is now urged by appellant and did so while considering the effect of A. R. S., Sec. 13-1641, which is the same as 76-1-23, U. C. A. 1953. The court said:

“The above statute covers a situation where the same act is punishable in different ways under different sections of the law. Under such a situation, he can be punished for only one offense. Burglary and theft are two separate and distinct acts. To constitute burglary, it is not necessary that theft be committed.”

To the same effect are *Wyatt v. Alvis*, 136 N. E. 2d 726 (Ohio App. 1957); *State v. Trunzo*, 137 N. E. 2d 511 (Ohio App. 1957); *Kuklich v. Baldi*, 150 Pa. Super. 390, 28 A. 2d 496 (1942); *State v. Byra*, 128 N. J. L. 429, 26 A. 2d 702 (1942); *People v. Morhous*, 63 N. Y. S. 2d 274 (1946); *Robinson v. Commonwealth*, 190 Va. 134, 56 S. E. 2d 367 (1949); *Copeland v. Manning*, 109 S. E. 2d 361 (S. C. 1959); *Sharp v. State*, 61 Neb. 187, 85 N. W. 38; *People v. Guarino*, 132 Cal. App. 2d 554, 282 P. 2d 538 (1955); *People v. Macias*, 161 Cal. App. 2d 594, 326 P. 2d 936 (1958).

Substantial reasons exist for the precedents, since different values are concerned in each crime (see 100 U. of Pa. L. Rev. 411 [1952]); and where both are involved, the result is more serious than if just one crime were

present. In *United States v. Mayo*, 26 C. M. R. 627 (1958), pn. denied, 27 C. M. R. 512, the court rejected the "single transaction" and "continuous impulse" tests as being not applicable to the crimes of housebreaking and larceny. The court said:

"It is our opinion that none of the rules or tests enunciated briefly above are, *or should be*, determinative of the case at hand. It is unthinkable that a housebreaking should be determined to be multiplicitious with a separate and further offense committed after the housebreaking has been effected. So to hold would be an invitation to further criminal offense."

It is submitted that the contention of the appellant is unmeritorious both on the basis of Utah precedent and upon other authority.

## CONCLUSION

It is submitted that appellant's argument, having been laid to rest before by the court, need not now be interred since the social values sought to be protected at the time of *Rogerson v. Harris* are still the social values of the present day. It is recognized that even if the appellant's initial premise were sound, the question of the effect of the sentences upon the collective mind of the Board of Pardons may not be ripe for judicial investigation; but since the initial position of appellant is not based upon a correct rationale, that issue need not be met.

It is submitted that the court should affirm both sentences.